IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. LT No. 16-1991-CF-1505

STEVEN EDWARD STEIN

Appellant

v.

## STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee

ON APPEAL FROM THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

CORRECTED INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Harry P. Brody Florida Bar No. 0977860

Jeffrey M. Hazen Florida Bar No. 0153060

Brody & Hazen, PA P. O. Box 16515 Tallahassee, Florida 32317 850.942.0005 Counsel for Appellant

#

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

1. Procedural History

On February 7, 1991, Appellant was indicted by the grand jury in Duval County, Florida, charged with two counts of firstdegree murder and one count of armed robbery. (R. 13)

On June 17, 1991, the Appellant's jury trial commenced, and, on June 20, 1991, immediately following guilty verdicts on all counts, the penalty phase commenced and a jury recommendation of death by a 10-2 vote was returned. (R. 916)

On July 23, 1991, Appellant was sentenced to death. (R. 942) The trial court subsequently entered its written findings. (R. 354)

On direct appeal, the Florida Supreme Court affirmed the convictions and sentence. <u>Stein v. State</u>, 632 So. 2d 1361 (Fla. 1994) Subsequently, the United States Supreme Court denied Mr. Stein's Petition for a Writ of Certiorari on October 3, 1994. Stein v. Florida, 513 U.S. 834, 115 S. Ct. 111 (1994).

On November 15, 1995, Appellant filed an initial motion for post-conviction relief pursuant to Rule 3.850, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure. A first amended 3.850 motion was filed on June 21, 1996.

In May, 2002, Appellant filed his second amended Motion to Vacate the Judgments of Conviction and Sentences.

After a bifurcated evidentiary hearing, the lower court denied Mr. Stein's Motion.

This appeal follows.

#### 2. Evidentiary Hearing Testimony (10/18/02)

On October 18, 2002, Chief Judge Moran presided over the evidentiary hearing to which the State had stipulated Mr. Stein was entitled based upon the allegations in his 3.850 that the State Attorney's file contained an unsigned draft of the sentencing order. (PC-R. 23-100)

Prior to the hearing, Appellant renewed his objection to the judicial bifurcation of the proceeding. (PC-R. 28)

At the evidentiary hearing, Judge Wiggins was a material witness. (PC-R. 72-83) The State Attorneys also testified subsequently, Judge Moran issued an Order denying relief because Appellant does not appeal the denial of relief on the Patterson claim. (PC-R. 18-46)

Appellant does appeal Judge Moran's Order refusing to disqualify Judge Wiggins from the case. However, pursuant to the authority of <u>Lewis v. State</u>, 565 S.G. 2d 437 (Ga. 2002), Appellant maintains that the hearing court erred in denying his Motion for recusal and disqualification of Judge Wiggins. (PC-R. 15-17)

## 3. Evidentiary Hearing Testimony (2/13/06 and 2/14/06)

Judge Wiggins presided over the continuation of the Appellant's evidentiary hearing held on February 13 and February 14, 2005 (PC-R3. 1)

At the 2006 evidentiary hearing, trial attorney Jeff Morrow testified that he defended Mr. Stein at the 1991 capital trial. (PC-R3. 3-10)

Mr. Morrow testified that he prepared for the death penalty case by talking to Frank Tasone a lot, although he apparently failed to note that time on his bill. (PC-R3. 13) He talked to Mr. Tasone, another Jacksonville lawyer who had a capital case, prior to the guilt and penalty phases. <u>Id</u>. Mr. Morrow recalled that there was "a big break" in <u>Hardwick</u>, Mr. Tasone's case, and Mr. Tasone asked Mr. Morrow for ideas. (PC-R3. 14) Mr. Morrow would bump into Mr. Tasone like this at the courthouse, and occasionally they discussed <u>Stein</u> and <u>Harwick</u>. <u>Id</u>. Mr. Morrow testified that he was mentioning this because Mr. Tasone couldn't come up with mitigation either. (PC-R3. 15) However, Morrow didn't recall that they discussed either investigation or what they'd done to try to locate some mitigation. (PC-R3. 16)

<u>Stein</u> was the first death penalty case that Mr. Morrow handled by himself. <u>Id</u>. As a public defender, he had sat in with Public Defender Chipperfield on <u>Jackson</u> but didn't do anything. Id. Also, he once had a non-capital murder case that

resulted in a second-degree verdict. <u>Id.</u> On <u>Jackson</u>, he had been a "go-fer" on the guilty-phase and didn't do much. (PC-R3. 17) Stein's was his first penalty-phase. Id.

Mr. Morrow testified that his investigation consisted of an initial call to Detective Scott to try to set him up for depositions and there were complications because Scott was ill and there were motions to perpetuate testimony. (PC-R3. 18) Then Mr. Morrow had a first investigator for a couple of weeks, before settling on Ken Montcrief, who located witnesses. (PC-R3. 18) However, the investigation didn't locate any witnesses. <u>Id.</u> Mr. Stein's sister and a girlfriend came to court so they testified. <u>Id.</u> The remainder of possible penalty-phase evidence in Mr. Morrow's file consisted of a bill for Mr. Stein's attendance at the Phoenix School of Technology, a technical school in Phoenix. (PC-R3. 19, Def. Ex. 2) Mr. Morrow recalled "getting stuff," presumably this record, from that school. (PC-R3. 25)

A review of Mr. Morrow's statement for services rendered indicated that he billed three-and-a-half hours for penaltyphase preparation. (Def. Ex. 1; PC-R3. 19-25) Further, Mr. Morrow testified that some of his previous talks with Mr. Stein's sister must have been at least partially penalty-phase related, as were his discussions with Dr. Krop. (PC-R3. 21-22) Finally, as with Mr. Morrow's on-the-fly discussions with Mr.

Tasone, Mr. Morrow engaged, at some point, in some "soul searching" with Attorney Hank Coxe on how to avoid the imposition of the death penalty on Mr. Stein. (PC-R3. 22-23)

Mr. Morrow testified that, while he billed for receiving and reviewing co-defendant's Christmas' Notice of Mitigating Circumstances, he didn't recall preparing such a Notice of Mitigation on behalf of Mr. Stein. (PC-R3. 29) After reviewing his statement again, he confirmed that he did not bill for the preparation of such a penalty-phase document. <u>Id.</u> He did bill for talking to Christmas' attorney, Mr. Chipperfield, about Mr. Christmas' Notice of Mitigation, however, confirming that Mr. Chipperfield was the more experience capital attorney. (PC-R3. 30)

Regarding a penalty-phase strategy, Mr. Morrow testified that his strategy was to humanize Mr. Stein before the jury and try to argue that Christmas was the shooter. <u>Id.</u> Mr. Morrow wanted to argue that, for all Mr. Stein knew, the plan was robbery only. (PC-R3. 31) Morrow hoped this guilt-phase defense would "blend over" into penalty-phase by the use of the sister and girlfriend. (PC-R3. 31-32)

Mr. Morrow conceded, however, that he had "no mitigation," which is why he commiserated with Mr. Tasone, who said that he also had no mitigation in <u>Hardwick</u>. (PC-R. 32) (Mr. Morrow also indicated that he is aware that Mr. Tasone was ultimately

determined to have rendered ineffective assistance of counsel in <u>Hardwick</u>. (PC-R3. 33) Mr. Morrow was actually worried by the fact that he had no mitigation to present. <u>Id.</u> He indicated that he should have gone to Phoenix, where Mr. Stein was from, and should have "basically talk[ed] to everybody." (PC-R3. 34) Mr. Morrow knew that Mr. Stein had only been in Jacksonville for a few months, for a short time at most. <u>Id.</u> Mr. Morrow knew that Stein was not from Jacksonville and spoke with Mr. Stein's sister in Phoenix. (PC-R3. 35) Nevertheless, neither Mr. Morrow nor his investigator went to Phoenix to investigate. <u>Id.</u> Tellingly, Mr. Morrow conceded that, were he on the case today, he would not merely go to Phoenix but would "camp out there." <u>Id.</u> Further, he testified that he should have done the same at that time. Id.

Mr. Morrow agreed that, clearly, if there were people who could present testimony about problems that Mr. Stein had growing up, possible problems with drugs or injuries, or things which shaped him as a person and as a human being, such testimony would be the sort which the defense should present to the jury in the penalty phase. <u>Id.</u> "That's what you're supposed to do," Mr. Morrow enthused, and, looking back, confirmed that he should have presented such evidence in this case. (PC-R3. 36)

As it was, the totality of the penalty-phase took a single day. <u>Id.</u> The penalty-phase began immediately upon the conclusion of the guilt-phase <u>Id.</u> Mr. Morrow did present the two girls who attended the trial, Mr. Stein's sister and girlfriend, Ms. Moss and Ms. Griffin. <u>Id.</u> In preparation, he'd talked to the sister months before and again right before she testified. (PC-R3. 37)

Consistent with his recollection that he had not prepared a life story or a life history of Mr. Stein, Mr. Morrow's primary recollection of the substance of the penalty-phase is that he did not have any mitigation to present. Id.

Regarding the guilt-phase, Mr. Morrow testified that he planned to concede that Mr. Stein was guilty of robbery despite the fact that the concession would mean that Mr. Stein was also guilty of felony murder. (PC-R3. 38) Mr. Morrow maintained that he talked to Mr. Stein about the fact that a concession of guilt to robbery would make Mr. Stein liable for felony murder and eligible for the death penalty. <u>Id.</u> Thus, Mr. Morrow's strategy was to concede guilt to robbery, but to argue for a lesser-included like second-degree murder on manslaughter. <u>Id.</u> In fact, Mr. Morrow admitted that his strategy was to "<u>look for</u> <u>a jury pardon</u>." (PC-R3. 39) Mr. Morrow maintained that the jury could find Mr. Stein guilty of robbery but not guilty of felony murder. Id. He did not, however, indicate how this could

happen, although this is precisely what he asked the jury to do in his closing argument. <u>Id.</u> Further, Mr. Morrow maintained that Mr. Stein agreed that Morrow could plead him guilty to robbery. <u>Id.</u>

Mr. Morrow initially indicated that he had many jail conferences with Mr. Stein. <u>Id.</u> However, the statement for services rendered doesn't corroborate "many" such conferences. (PC-R3. 39-40) Each time he went to court, Morrow testified, he saw Mr. Stein, although he simply couldn't recall every single time. (PC-R3. 41) Close to trial there would be a lot of times where they discussed the particular strategy of calling the sister and girlfriend. <u>Id.</u>

Mr. Morrow also discussed the guilt-phase strategy of conceding guilt and pleading Mr. Stein guilty to armed robbery felony murder. <u>Id.</u> Such discussion, Mr. Morrow asserted, was "very, very complex." <u>Id.</u> They discussed felony murder in great detail. <u>Id.</u>

Mr. Morrow's only guilt-phase strategy was to argue for a jury pardon. (PC-R3. 45). He disputed that the felony murder determination would be "automatic" upon conviction for armed robbery, which he was conceding, but admitted that a verdict of guilt on an armed robbery count and guilt on a count of seconddegree murder instead of on a felony murder or first degree murder count would be inconsistent. (PC-R3. 46) Mr. Morrow did

not explain what sort of jury form or instruction could permit the outcome he was arguing for. Id.

Mr. Morrow did not advise Mr. Stein regarding the law on jury pardons, but told Mr. Stein that the jury pardon is a mechanism for society to express mercy and for the jury to try to find the good in people. (PC-R3. 46) Thus, "sometimes a jury pardon exists and, when it does, if there's a finding of second degree murder then the state will not be able to appeal and get a first-degree murder." <u>Id.</u> After such a discussion, Mr. Morrow recommended this strategy and, he testified, Mr. Stein agreed that the defense "May have to take the argument of felony murder and try to get a jury pardon." (PC-R3. 17) Further, such a strategy was not only a guilt-phase strategy, but was, according to Mr. Morrow, Mr. Stein's "best chance of not getting the death penalty." <u>Id.</u>

Apparently, then, Mr. Morrow propounded the jury pardon strategy as a way to obviate the need for mitigation as well as the only practicable guilt-phase defense, although Mr. Morrow did not think there was any realistic chance that Mr. Stein would not be convicted of armed robbery. (PC-R3. 47-48) In fact, Mr. Stein agreed that he asked the jury to convict Mr. Stein of the armed robbery count. (PC-R3. 48) The only alternative, Mr. Morrow testified, would be to "stonewall the state and make them prove every single element of the crime."

Id. However, Mr. Morrow thought then, and still believes, that the best strategy was to go for a jury pardon. (PC-R3. 49)

Mr. Morrow testified that the main thing that he knew about Mr. Stein's life was the "evidence of him being a skinhead," and of his "hate crimes," and "all that." (PC-R3. 50) He testified that Mr. Stein had racial tattoos, had a "hate crime" to his name, and had a prior murder in Arizona. <u>Id.</u> Nevertheless, conflictingly the Court records reveal that the only mitigation the Court found was "no significant criminal history." (PC-R3. 51) Further, Mr. Morrow acknowledged that the Court did not find that he had presented any credible mitigation. <u>Id.</u> Mr. Morrow also acknowledged that nothing about Mr. Stein's life was presented. <u>Id.</u>

Ultimately, Mr. Morrow reiterated, when asked if this dearth of mitigation was a shortcoming in the defense, that he wished he had, in fact, camped out in Phoenix. Id.

Finally, on direct examination, Mr. Morrow confirmed that, Mr. Stein's jury could not have been made aware that Mr. Christmas ultimately received a death sentence for the obvious reason that the Florida Supreme Court's reversal of the Christmas court's over-ride of the <u>Christmas</u> jury recommendation for life occurred after the <u>Stein</u> jury was released from service. (PC-R3. 53-54); <u>Christmas v. State</u>. 632 So. 2d 1368(Fla. 1994) In fact, Mr. Christmas was tried later then Mr.

Stein because, as the court tentatively recollected, the defense in Stein pushed to proceed more quickly. (PC-R3. 53)

Also, Mr. Morrow testified that, around the time of the Stein trial, Mr. Morrow's partner's wife was murdered. <u>Id.</u> Mr. Morrow denied that her victimization, though hitting close to home, effected his preparation or performance. Id.

Mr. Morrow did recall having to leave the hearing on Mr. Stein's Suppression Motion because he had to attend to a sick child. (PC-R3. 55) Mr. Morrow acknowledged that he did not get Mr. Stein's permission to leave. <u>Id.</u> Therefore, Mr. Stein was left unrepresented at the hearing, of an admittedly "crucial" motion. Mr. Morrow reasoned, "[I]f the confession came in, then I'd have to do the jury pardon. If it didn't come in, then "I would take a different strategy." <u>Id.</u> Here, Mr. Morrow clearly adopted the portrayal of the "jury pardon" approach as a "last ditch strategy" - "I mean that's something you use when you don't have anything else." (PC-R3. 56)

In response to the question of whether he could or should have sought a continuation of the suppression hearing, Mr. Morrow testified that there was an emergency call and that he had to leave, but he deferred to the record as to whether a continuance was requested. (PC-R3. 56-57) Mr. Morrow did apparently understand that "technically" Mr. Christmas' counsel

couldn't have represented Mr. Stein for the duration of the hearing because of a conflict. (PC-R3. 57)

On cross-examination, Mr. Morrow reiterated that he had been a public defender for four years before the <u>Stein</u> trial. (PC-R3. 62) In that capacity, he observed the Public Defender's capital trial attorneys. <u>Id.</u> After 1985, he made his living in private practice as a criminal defense attorney. (PC-R3. 63)

In the <u>Stein</u> case, he felt that the best strategy was to pursue a "jury pardon," which he'd seen happen in a sexual battery case.

Regarding the investigation of possible mitigation, Mr. Morrow spoke with Mr. Stein and hired Mr. Moncrief (PC-R3. 65-66) Further, both Mr. Stein and Mr. Stein's sister explained to him that Mr. Stein's parents were too old to be involved. (PC-R3. 66) However, Mr. Stein's sister had flown in from their home in Arizona, presumably to assist the defense.

Mr. Morrow testified that his research revealed a federal case that put the prerogative for calling the parents as witnesses on the defendant. (PC-R3. 67-67) Further, he talked to Mr. Chipperfield, Christmas' attorney, about mitigation generally. Mr. Morrow also conferred with Hank Coxe about the penalty phase. (PC-R3. 67) Also, the investigator, Ken Moncrief, may have spoken to Kyle White, a friend of the defendant and a guilt-phase witness for the prosecution. Id.

Regarding innuendo that Mr. Stein may have been a skinhead or a white supremacist and accordingly may be blazoned with racial tattoos, their signature imprimatur, and that Mr. Stein's friends might be similarly decorated, Mr. Morrow denied that he spoke with any of them. (PC-R3. 69-71) Investigator Moncrief did, however, and, ultimately, Mr. Morrow did not believe any alleged noxious affiliations or their insignia became issues for the jury. <u>Id.</u>

Finally, on cross, Mr. Morrow testified that he hired Dr. Krop, a mental-health expert, but, as Krop reported nothing helpful, Krop was not used. Id.

Regarding the guilt-phase, Mr. Morrow testified that the prospective admission into the evidence of Mr. Stein's "confession," that he was involved in a robbery gone bad at the Pizza Hut, was rendered unavoidable by the denial of Mr. Stein's Motion to Suppress and forced Mr. Morrow and Mr. Stein to engage in extensive discussions about whether Mr. Morrow should concede guilt to the armed robbery and argue for "some sort of lesser conviction on a homicide or some sort of jury pardon." (PC-R3. 75-76) Ultimately, Morrow testified, that was the "whole strategy," including for the penalty-phase, in which Mr. Morrow hoped that the credibility he would gain with the jury by making the concession would cause the jury to recommend life. (PC-R3. 76)

Finally, Mr. Morrow explained why voluntary intoxication was not a viable defense, and, reviewing the bill which he submitted for payment, Mr. Morrow identified time on his bill which could have been spent on penalty-phase issues. (PC-R3. 78-87)

On redirect, Mr. Morrow clarified that <u>Stein</u> was his first capital case. (PC-R3. 92) Thus, prior to <u>Stein</u>, he had not handled a capital case or conducted a penalty-phase. <u>Id.</u> Tellingly, the only person he actually recalls talking to about possibly providing mitigation was Mr. Stein's sister, although the girlfriend was also called as a witness and he also spoke to Kyle White, who was hostile. (PC-R3. 92-93)

On re-cross, Mr. Morrow acknowledged that he added Investigator Moncrief to the brief mitigation witness list. (PC-R3. 93) Unfortunately, Dr. Krop provided "nothing helpful" toward mitigation. <u>Id.</u> Lastly, Mr. Morrow penalty-phase preparation included talking to attorneys Coxe and Chipperfield about mitigation. (PC-R3. 93-94)

Mr. Stein's sister, Sandra Bates, testified that she is approximately eight years older than Mr. Stein. (PC-R3. 105) In fact, she recalled the happy day when she and their parents rode to the orphanage to bring Steven home. (PC-R3. 106) Sandra recalled that she was the first of the family to hold him. <u>Id.</u> Her parents, she testified, waited thirteen years to have

children, first adoption her and then his. <u>Id.</u> The Steins were older when they adopted her, and much older when they adopted Steve. Id.

The Stein family, now four, lived in a small house in Maywood, New Jersey. (PC-R3. 107) Sandra simply adored Steve. <u>Id.</u> Every year they took a special family vacation. <u>Id.</u> His sister babysat for Steve after school, and the parents and Steve had a loving relationship. <u>Id.</u>

Then, in 1977, the family moved to Phoenix. (PC-R3. 108) Mrs. Stein was in ill health, with arthritis, and the family doctor recommended Arizona. (PC-R3. 109) Mr. Stein, the father, a warehouse manager, was initially unemployed when they moved, but Mrs. Stein's arthritis was relieved, although she subsequently became further afflicted with other illnesses. <u>Id.</u> Despite her poor health, she loved Steve "immensely." <u>Id.</u> She "adored him." Id.

As Sandra Bates testified, the Steins were two people who had lost <u>nine babies naturally</u>. <u>Id.</u> "They wanted children terribly and they opened their hearts" to Sandra and to Steve. (PC-R3. 109-110) Sandra had been adopted as a newborn, and, later, Steve was adopted at about eight months of age. (PC-R3. 110) Mrs. Stein told Sandra that Steve's mother was young and had just happened to be in the area when she went into labor and gave birth. Id. (See also Def. Ex. 3)

Steve was in elementary school when the Steins moved to Phoenix, and Sandra was in High School. <u>Id.</u> Sandra still recalled that she and her mom registered Steve for school. (PC-R3. 110-111)

The move was hard on their father, though, and money was very tight, Sandra recalled. (PC-R3. 111) Predictably, money pressures created stress in the house. Id.

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