IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STEVEN EDWARD STEIN,

Appellant,

CASE NO. SC06-1505

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____/

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

CHARMAINE M. MILLSAPS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0989134

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL
TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050
(850) 414-3300
COUNSEL FOR THE STATE

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

The rule of Judicial Administration governing the grounds for the disqualification of trial judges, rule 2.160(d), provides:

A motion to disqualify shall show:

- (1) that the party fears that he or she will not receive a fair trial or hearing because of specifically described prejudice or bias of the judge; or
- (2) that the judge before whom the case is pending, or some person related to said judge by consanguinity or affinity within the third degree, is a party thereto or is interested in the result thereof, or that said judge is related to an attorney or counselor of record in the cause by consanguinity or affinity within the third degree, or that said judge is a material witness for or against one of the parties to the cause.

The Canon of the Code of Judicial Conduct governing

disqualification of a judge, Canon 3(E), provides:

(1) A judge shall disqualify himself or herself in a proceeding in which the judge's impartiality might reasonably be questioned, including but not limited to instances where:

- (a) the judge has a personal bias or prejudice concerning a party or a party's lawyer, or personal knowledge of disputed evidentiary facts concerning the proceeding;
- (b) the judge served as a lawyer or was the lower court judge in the matter in controversy, or a lawyer with whom the judge previously practiced law served during such association as a lawyer concerning the matter, or the judge has been a material witness concerning it;

* * * *

Personal knowledge of disputed evidentiary facts means extrajudicial, so facts learned by a judge in his or her judicial capacity cannot be the basis for disqualification. 175 F.3d 966, 969 (11th Cir United States v. Bailey, 1999)(holding recusal was not required because whatever knowledge the judge gained was acquired in the course of a judicial proceeding); Conkling v. Turner, 138 F.3d 577, 592 (5th Cir. 1998)(explaining that a judge's personal knowledge of evidentiary facts means extrajudicial, so facts learned by a judge in his or her judicial capacity cannot be the basis for disqualification citing Lac Du Flambeau Indians v. Stop Treaty Abuse-Wis., 991 F.2d 1249, 1255-56 (7th Cir. 1993). Here, Judge Wiggins had personal knowledge of who prepared the final sentencing order because he had done so as part of his judicial duties in this case. This is not extrajudicial - far from it and therefore, is not a proper basis to disqualify the judge.

Stein also asserts that Judge Wiggins has some sort of personal bias or prejudice against him based on his Patterson However, a Patterson claim does not claim. involve any impropriety different from that of any other legal error. Barwick v. State, 660 So. 2d 685, 692 (Fla. 1995) (concluding that a motion to disqualify may not be based on the fact that a trial judge makes an adverse ruling, citing Jackson v. State, 599 So.2d 103, 107 (Fla. 1992); Gilliam v. State, 582 So.2d 610, 611 (Fla. 1991), and Tafero v. State, 403 So.2d 355, 361 (Fla. 1981)). Stein is basically asserting that any time a trial court makes an erroneous ruling, that judge is subject to disqualification. If this is true, every retrial ordered by an appellate court after a finding of legal error would have to be conducted by a new judge. Erroneous rulings are not a proper basis for disqualification but this is especially true, where, as here, it has been determined by another judge that the asserted legal error did not occur. As Judge Moran found, Judge Wiggins did not improperly delegate his sentencing duties to the prosecutor and therefore, has no reason to be prejudiced against Stein regarding a legal error that never happened. 4

The only real possible basis for the motion to disqualify is that Judge Wiggins was a witness at the evidentiary hearing

⁴ Stein's post-conviction motion did not contain an allegation of *ex parte* communication, only an improper delegation argument. Motion at 26.

regarding the *Patterson* claim. The canon prohibits a judge from being a judge and a witness in the same proceeding or "matter in controversy". The matter in controversy about which Judge Wiggins testified was the *Patterson* claim. Judge Moran, not Judge Wiggins, presided at the hearing where Judge Wiggins was a witness.⁵

There was no violation of the statute, rule or canon. Judge Wiggins was not a witness at the second evidentiary hearing over which he presided. Judge Moran presided over the first evidentiary hearing at which Judge Wiggins was a witness.

The commentary to the equivalent federal rule of evidence prohibiting the judge from testifying in the case explains the problems when the judge becomes a witness and notes there are no satisfactory answers to questions which arise when the judge abandons the bench for the witness stand, such as: Who rules on objections? Who compels him to answer? Can he rule impartially on the weight and admissibility of his own testimony? Can he be impeached or cross-examined effectively? Can he, in a jury trial, avoid conferring his seal of approval on one side in the

⁵ The State notes that co-counsel Jeff Hazen also testified as a witness at the first evidentiary hearing. The State did not object to his further involvement at the second evidentiary hearing.

eyes of the jury? Can he, in a bench trial, avoid an involvement destructive of impartiality?⁶

None of these concerns are present. Judge Wiggins was not a witness at the second evidentiary hearing. Judge Wiggins did not rule on his own credibility. Judge Wiggins was not called upon to assess his or her own credibility in determining the Patterson issue, Judge Moran did that. Nor was Judge Wiggins called upon to assess his or her own credibility in determining the remaining issues at the second evidentiary hearing. His credibility was not at issue in the remaining issues explored at that second evidentiary hearing and he did not testify at the second evidentiary hearing. Nor was there a jury at either evidentiary hearing for him to confer his seal of approval on one side in the eyes of.

There is no controlling precedent from this Court on this issue. State v. Riechmann, 777 So.2d 342, 348 n.8 (Fla. 2000), in which this Court designated another judge to preside over the postconviction proceedings where the original trial judge was called as a witness with regard to the ex parte communication

The equivalent federal rules of Evidence governing the competency of Judge as Witness, rule 605, provides:

The judge presiding at the trial may not testify in that trial as a witness. No objection need be made in order to preserve the point.

and delegation of authority to the prosecutor to prepare the sentencing order claims, does not control. Riechmann did not involve bifurcated proceedings as in this case. Riechmann is also distinguishable because it was determined at the hearing that the trial judge in that case, had, indeed, had the prosecutor prepare a rough draft of the sentencing order. Here, by contrast, Judge Wiggins prepared his own sentencing order. He did not have the prosecutor write either a rough draft or the final sentencing order.

In School Bd. of Indian River County v. Livaudais, 720 So.2d 1175 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998), the Fourth District dismissed a petition for writ of prohibition based upon a motion to disqualify the original judge from conducting any further proceedings in the case. The School Board filed a motion to disqualify trial judge based upon a relationship between the judge and a witness. A senior judge was then assigned to try the case. After the trial, a motion for attorney's fees was set before the original trial judge. The School Board filed a petition for a writ of prohibition. The Fourth District dismissed the petition reasoning that because the case was tried before a different judge, the reason for recusal has been removed and because there was no allegation that the witness will testify in regard to any post-trial motions, the original judge was free to hear any post-trial motions. Thus, the Fourth

District concluded that the original trial judge could preside over further proceedings.

Moreover, even if viewed as a technical violation of the statutes, rules or canon, the rule of necessity should allow the original judge to preside over the post-conviction proceedings. According to the commentary to canon, by decisional law, the rule of necessity may override the norm of disqualification. Because the original trial judge is, in Justice Wells' words "a real advantage" to the case, as a matter of judicial efficiency, he should be permitted to preside over the postconviction proceedings regardless of the general prohibition in judges becoming witnesses. Cardona v. State, 826 So.2d 968, 982 (Fla. 2002)(Wells, J., dissenting)(noting the "real advantage evaluating prejudice that the trial judge was the same as the postconviction judge."). The rule of necessity allows a judge who is otherwise disqualified to preside if there is no other judge to hear the matter. United States v. Will, 449 U.S. 200, 213-216, 101 S.Ct. 471, 480-481, 66 L.Ed.2d (1980)(discussing the rule of necessity and noting that the rule of necessity has been consistently applied in this country in both state and federal courts); People v. Superior Court, 54 Cal.App.4th 407, 410, 62 Cal.Rptr.2d 721, 722 (Cal. App. 1997)(holding disqualification was not required of an appellate panel where the members belonged to the California Judge's

Association which had filed an amicus brief in the case because 90% of the states' judges belonged to the association, the rule of necessity applied). The original judge should be permitted to testify in the earlier evidentiary hearing and then resume his duties if the second judge determines that there is no merit to the judicial conduct issue.

Bifurcation of claims such as this Patterson claim is a The original trial judge has a unique reasonable balance. familiarity with the case that another judge who did not preside at the trial does not. Cardona v. State, 826 So.2d 968, 982 (Fla. 2002) (Wells, J., dissenting) (noting the "real advantage in evaluating prejudice that the trial judge was the same as the postconviction judge."); Routly v. State, 590 So.2d 397, 402 (Fla. 1991)(concluding that a finding by the trial court that the error had no effect on the sentence was "entitled to considerable weight" because the judge who presided Routly's 3.850 motion was the same judge who presided over his trial and imposed the death sentence). The defendant has his day in court regarding the improper delegation claim in front of another judge. If there is merit to the Patterson claim, the defendant will receive a new sentencing hearing. If there is no merit to the Patterson claim, the remainder of the postconviction proceedings should be conducted in front of the original trial judge. There is no reason to disqualify the original trial judge where the underlying claim has been determined to be meritless by a second judge. *Palmer v. State*, 775 So. 2d 404 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000)(ordering another judge to hear a motion to disqualify the original judge but noting if the other judge determine that the appearance of counsel was a means to disqualify the original judge, the disqualification is waived).

If this Court holds that the original trial judge is to be prohibited from presiding at any further proceedings in the capital case that he or she tried, then any defendant can remove the original trial judge merely by raising a claim, such as a Patterson claim, where the original trial judge's conduct is at issue. Under rule 3.851 any claim that involves a factual is suppose to have evidentiary development evidentiary hearing, so the original judge will have to testify regarding the claim where his conduct is at issue. Capital defendants will raise such claims, though even frivolous, as an automatic means of disqualifying the judge who sentenced them to death.

Petitioner's reliance on *Lewis v. State*, 565 S.E.2d 437 (Ga. 2002), is misplaced. Lewis was convicted of murders and other offenses and sentenced to death. Lewis filed a motion for new trial claiming that the judge responded to the jury's written questions without notifying defense counsel. Lewis also

filed a motion to disqualify the judge because she would have to testify regarding the jury's communications. The original trial judge recused herself as to the motion for new trial and the case was assigned to a different judge as to the issue of jury communications. The second judge held a hearing on the jury communication issue and the original trial judge testified at that hearing. She testified that she received no notes from the The second judge ruled that no improper communications The original trial judge then ruled on the remaining claims in the motion for new trial. The Georgia Supreme Court held that the original trial judge was disqualified from further involvement in the case because she was a witness and remanded the case with directions that the motion for new trial be heard by a different judge. The Georgia Supreme Court reasoned that the appearance of impropriety cannot be eliminated merely by addressing these issues in a piecemeal fashion.

Lewis is distinguishable. In Georgia, the trial judge is not the actual sentencer, the jury is. Often, when appellate courts disapprove of partial disqualification, it is in the interest of judicial economy. There is normally no point in having two judges assigned to the same case. But this view of judicial economy depends on judges being fungible. While normally true, the original trial judge is not fungible in capital post-conviction proceedings in Florida. He has a unique

role as the actual sentencer in a capital case in Florida. So, judicial economy cuts the other way in such cases and demands that the original trial judge be retained as much as possible.

The Georgia Supreme Court's reasoning that the appearance of impropriety cannot be eliminated merely by addressing these issues in a piecemeal fashion is simplistic. The appearance of impropriety is, in fact, eliminated by having another judge determine the propriety of the original judge's conduct. Indeed, this situation differs little, if at all, from appellate review of the trial judge's rulings. If a case is remanded for a new trial by an appellate court because of legal error committed by the trial judge, the appellate courts do not order that the new trial be conducted in front of a new judge. The original trial judge conducts the new trial.

Moreover, the holding in *Lewis* makes little sense in light of Georgia's procedures for dealing with motions to disqualify. Georgia, like many states, holds hearings regarding claims of judicial bias. When a party files a motion to disqualify the judge claiming that the judge is biased, a second judge is assigned to hear the bias claim. The original judge may testify at the bias hearing. If the second judge determines that there is no merit to the claim, the original judge, who may have testified at the bias hearing, is reassigned to try the case. Ga. Uniform Superior Court Rule 25.3 & 25.4. See also *State v*.

Frye, 794 S.W.2d 692, 699 (Mo. App. 1990)(noting that if the challenged judge is to testify at the hearing on the motion to disqualify, a disinterested judge must hear the issue).

Harmless Error

Any potential violation of the rule was harmless. While a true constitutional judicial bias claim is not subject to harmless error analysis, a claim based merely on appearance of impropriety can be harmless. Cf. Del Vecchio v. Illinois Dept. of Corrections, 31 F.3d 1363 (7th Cir. 1994)(concluding that appearance of impropriety by presiding judge was not equivalent of due process violation); Del Vecchio v. Illinois Dept. of Corrections, 31 F.3d 1363, 1389 (7th Cir.1994)(Easterbrook, J., concurring)(observing that "'Appearance' problems lurk everywhere, for they are in the eye of the beholder."). Any other judge would have denied the remaining claims. There is little merit to the claims of ineffectiveness at the quilt or penalty phase. Any judge would also have rejected the claim of disparate sentencing between the two co-perpetrators. The facts regarding the relative culpability issue does not depend on any testimony from the evidentiary hearing. The facts relied on by collateral counsel are the respective sentencing orders and the respective jury recommendations. The sentencing orders were written years prior to the evidentiary hearing and jury recommendations occurred years prior to the evidentiary hearing as well. Moreover, the relative culpability issue is reviewed de novo by this Court. Thus, a failure to have another judge preside over the remaining claims at the evidentiary hearing was harmless.

ISSUE II

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY REJECTED THE CLAIM OF INEFFECTIVENESS DURING THE GUILT AND PENALTY PHASE? (Restated)

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